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This meeting is live streamed and recorded by the Village of Belcarra 
To view the meeting click: Village of Belcarra - YouTube 

Note: This agenda is also posted on the Village’s website at www.belcarra.ca 

 
The purpose of a Council meeting is to enact powers given to Council by using bylaws or 
resolutions.  This is the venue for debate of issues before voting on a bylaw or resolution. 

We wish to acknowledge that this meeting is taking place on the unceded territory of the Coast 
Salish Peoples. Tum-Tumay-Whueton, or Belcarra, is home to an ancestral village of the Tsleil-
Waututh Nation. We are thankful to conduct our work within their territory.  

COUNCIL 
Mayor Jamie Ross 
Councillor Carolina Clark 
Councillor Joe Elworthy 
Councillor Janet Ruzycki 
Councillor Liisa Wilder 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 
   
2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA 
 
3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 
3.1 Regular Council Meeting, June 9, 2025 
 
4. PUBLIC INPUT (15 minutes) 

A period of fifteen (15) minutes will be made available on each Regular Council Meeting 
Agenda for members of the public to make submissions to Council.  Any person wishing 
to speak during Public Input Period must so indicate by raising their hand.  Each person 
will be permitted 2 minutes to comment on items presented on the agenda. A second 
opportunity to speak is permitted when all other interested parties have had an 
opportunity to provide their comments.   Comments must be directed to the Chair of the 
meeting and not to individual members of Council.  Public Input Period is a venue for 
submissions in the form of statements.  Questions can be directed to Question Period at 
the end of the agenda. 

5. DELEGATIONS  
5.1 UCI News Cooperative – introduction to a New Non-Profit News Co-op  

• Janis Cleugh, UCI New Co-operative 
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6. ITEMS ON CONSENT AGENDA
Council may adopt in one motion all recommendations appearing on the Consent
Agenda, or prior to the question on the vote, any Council member may request that an
item be removed from the Consent Agenda and placed in Section 7 for debate or
discussion, voting in opposition to a recommendation, or declaring a conflict of interest
with an item.

6.1 Correspondence 
6.1.1 Village of Anmore Notice of Public Hearing 

Notice provided by the Village of Anmore that Anmore Council will hold a Public Hearing 
to consider the proposed Village of Anmore Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment 
No. 686-2023 in Council Chambers at the Anmore Community Hub, 2697 Sunnyside 
Road, Anmore on Monday, June 23, 2025, starting at 6:00 p.m. 

6.2 Reports 

6.3 Recommendation to Receive Items on Consent 
That the items on the Consent Agenda of the June 23, 2025 Village of Belcarra Regular 
Council Meeting be received into the record. 

7. ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA

8. CORRESPONDENCE/PROCLAMATIONS (ACTION ITEMS)

9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS

10. STAFF REPORTS

10.1 2024 Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 
Staff report by the Chief Administrative Officer dated June 23, 2025 recommending that 
the Village of Belcarra’s 2024 Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) report be 
approved and that the Mayor and Chief Administrative Officer be authorized to sign off on 
the applicable statements within the SOFI report. 

10.2 2024 Annual Report 
Staff report by the Corporate Officer dated June 23, 2025 recommending that the 2024 
Annual Report for the Village of Belcarra be received as required by the Community 
Charter. 

10.3 ISL Engineering Contract Renewal 
Staff report by the Manager, Municipal Services dated June 23, 2025 recommending that 
the Village of Belcarra retains ISL Engineering and Land Services Ltd. (ISL) for a second 
five-year term of a Master Standing Offer Agreement for consulting engineering services. 
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10.4 Marine Pipeline Inspection and Recommendation  
 Staff report by the Manager, Municipal Services dated June 23, 2025 recommending that 

Fraser Burrard Diving Ltd be retained to conduct an underwater marine pipeline inspection 
at the cost of $25,295, that WSP Canada Ltd. be retained to make recommendations 
based on the inspection results at the cost of $4,000, and that the Village of Belcarra 2025 
to 2029 capital financial plan be amended by transferring the $75,000 Municipal Hall septic 
field replacement budget from 2025 to 2026 and transferring the $30,000 marine pipeline 
inspection budget from 2026 to 2025. 

 
11. BYLAWS 

 
12. RELEASE OF ITEMS FROM CLOSED COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 
 
13. MAYOR AND COUNCILLOR REPORTS 
 
 Mayor Ross attended the following events:  

• Tuesday, June 17:   RCMP “E” Division’s Lower Mainland District Mayors’ Forum  
• Thursday, June 19:  TransLink Joint ECP Director Recruitment Committee Meeting 
• Thursday, June 19:  TransLink Mayors' Council Public Affairs Committee Meeting 
• Thursday, June 19:  Cops for Cancer “Cuffed for a Cure” Fundraiser 

 
13.1. CHIEF ADMINISTATIVE OFFICER REPORT 
 

14. OTHER MATTERS DEEMED EXPEDIENT 
 
15. NOTICES OF MOTIONS AND MATTERS FOR INTRODUCTION AT FUTURE 

MEETINGS 
 
16. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD  
 The public is invited to ask questions of Council regarding any item pertaining to Village 

business.  A person wishing to make a submission will be limited to two (2) minutes and 
the submission must be in the form of a question.  A second opportunity to ask a follow 
up or new question is permitted if no one else is waiting to participate.  Questions, 
including follow up questions, must be directed to the Chair of the meeting and not to 
individual members of Council or staff.  If a question(s) to staff arises during Public 
Question Period, the question(s) must be addressed to the Chair and the Chair can 
request clarification from staff. 

The total session is limited to 20 minutes and will be completed by 11:00 pm unless 
extended with approval of Council through an affirmative vote. 

 
17. ADJOURNMENT 
 



This meeting was held in Council Chambers and live streamed at 
Village of Belcarra - YouTube 

Council in Attendance 
Mayor Jamie Ross 
Councillor Carolina Clark 
Councillor Joe Elworthy 
Councillor Janet Ruzycki  
Councillor Liisa Wilder  

Staff in Attendance 
Melony Burton, Chief Administrative Officer 
Stewart Novak, Manager, Municipal Services 
Amanda Seibert, Corporate Officer/Recording Secretary 
Jane Dreier, Clerk 
We wish to acknowledge that this meeting took place on the unceded territory of the Coast 
Salish peoples. Tum-Tumay-Whueton, or Belcarra, is home to an ancestral village of the Tsleil-
Waututh Nation. We are thankful to conduct our work within their territory. 

1. CALL TO ORDER
Mayor Ross called the meeting to order at 7:00 pm

2. APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA

2.1 Regular Council Meeting, June 9, 2025 
Moved by: Councillor Clark 
Seconded by: Councillor Wilder 
That the agenda for the Regular Council Meeting of June 9, 2025 be approved as 
circulated. 

CARRIED 
3. ADOPTION OF MINUTES
3.1 Special Council Meeting, June 2, 2025

Moved by: Councillor Wilder 
Seconded by: Councillor Ruzycki 
That the minutes from the Special Council Meeting held on June 2, 2025 be 
adopted. 

CARRIED 

VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

June 9, 2025 

3.1

https://www.youtube.com/@villageofbelcarra9617/streams
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3.2 Regular Council Meeting, May 26, 2025 
Moved by: Councillor Clark 
Seconded by: Councillor Ruzycki 
That the minutes from the Regular Council Meeting held on May 26, 2025 be 
adopted. 
 

CARRIED 
 
4. PUBLIC INPUT 

Mayor Ross advised on the procedure for Public Input. 
There were no speakers. 
 

5. DELEGATIONS AND PRESENTATIONS 
5.1 Anmore Residents Association – Anmore South OCP Amendment Process 

• Neil Lyons 
Mr. Lyons introduced himself as a director of the Anmore Residents Association. He 
outlined concerns with the process involved in the potential revisions to the Anmore 
Official Community Plan in response to a development proposal put forward by Icona 
Properties. He provided information on actions being taken by the group which included 
petitions and surveys requesting feedback on the proposal. 
Mr. Lyons responded to questions from Council members. 

 
6. ITEMS ON CONSENT AGENDA 
6.1 Correspondence 

6.1.1 Metro Vancouver, Dorothy Shermer, Corporate Officer, letter dated May 29, 2025 
providing a certified copy of Metro Vancouver Regional Sasamat Fire Service Conversion 
Bylaw No. 1402, 2024. 

6.1.2 TransLink, Michael Ohnemus, Manager, Transit Network Management, Transportation 
Planning & Policy Division, email dated June 2, 2025 providing information on TransLink’s 
Summer 2025 service changes. 

6.2 Reports 
 No items. 

6.3 Recommendation to Receive Items on Consent 
Moved by: Councillor Clark 
Seconded by: Councillor Wilder 

 That the items on the Consent Agenda of the June 9, 2025 Village of Belcarra 
Regular Council Meeting be received into the record. 
 CARRIED 
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7. ITEMS REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT AGENDA 
 No items 
 
8. CORRESPONDENCE/PROCLAMATIONS (ACTION ITEMS) 
8.1 Lifesaving Society – BC & Yukon Branch, Dany Rubbo, Communications and Events, 

email dated May 30, 2025 providing information on National Drowning Prevention Weeks 
and requesting that Village of Belcarra Council proclaim July 20 to July 25, 2025 National 
Drowning Prevention Week 
Moved by: Councillor Wilder 
Seconded by: Councillor Clark 

 That the week of July 20 to 25, 2025 be proclaimed National Drowning Prevention 
Week in the Village of Belcarra. 
 CARRIED 

9. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
 No items  
 
10. STAFF REPORTS 

10.1 Information Technology Server Replacement 
Staff report by the Financial Consultant dated June 9, 2025 recommending the 
amendment of Village of Belcarra’s 2025-2025 capital financial plan by transferring 
$12,000 from 2026 to 2025 for an information technology server with funding coming from 
the General Capital Reserve Fund. 
The Chief Administrative Officer presented the report. She advised that the existing server 
for the Village has reached the end of its life and replacement of the equipment is required. 
Moved by: Councillor Clark 
Seconded by: Councillor Ruzycki 

 That the Village of Belcarra’s 2025 – 2029 capital financial plan be amended by 
transferring $12,000.00 from 2026 to 2025 for an information technology server 
replacement, with funding coming from the General Capital Reserve Fund.   
 CARRIED 

10.2 Storm Water Network Review and Update 
Staff report by the Manager, Municipal Services dated June 9, 2025 recommending the 
retention of LandInfo Technologies for GIS and asset management planning support with 
services to be based on an hourly charge rate basis not to exceed $15,000 without prior 
approval from the Village. 
The Manager, Public Works presented the report. He highlighted the grant funding 
received and advised on work previously done by LandInfo Technologies. 
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Moved by: Councillor Ruzycki 
Seconded by: Councillor Clark 

 That the services of LandInfo Technologies for GIS and asset management 
planning support be retained; and further 

 That services be based on hourly rates applicable at the time of invoicing, not to 
exceed $15,000 (plus taxes) without prior approval from the Village. 
 CARRIED 

10.3 2024 Drinking Water Quality Annual Report 
 Staff report by the Manager, Municipal Works, dated June 9, 2025 providing the yearly 

information on water quality in the Village of Belcarra and recommending that the report 
be forwarded to the Fraser Health Authority for review and comment. 
The Manager, Municipal Services presented the report. He advised that the Drinking 
Water Annual Report will be submitted for public viewing and will be forwarded to Fraser 
Health prior to July 1, 2025. He provided a summary of works carried out on other areas 
of the water system within the Village. 
Moved by: Councillor Clark 
Seconded by: Councillor Wilder 

 That the 2024 Drinking Water Quality Annual Report be received into the record 
for information and be forwarded to the Fraser Health Authority for review and 
comment. 
 CARRIED 

10.4 Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment – Anmore South 

 Staff report by the Chief Administrative Officer dated June 9, 2025 providing updated 
information on the Village of Anmore’s Official Community Plan (OCP) Amendment Bylaw 
No. 686-2023 and outlining next steps in the process. 
The Chief Administrative Officer presented the report. She highlighted information 
received from the Village of Anmore pertaining to their OCP Amendment Bylaw and 
outlined next steps in the process. She advised that staff will review all available 
information forthcoming with a particular focus on answering questions asked by Village 
of Belcarra Council. 
Moved by: Councillor Clark 
Seconded by: Councillor Ruzycki 

 That the staff report dated June 9, 2025, titled “Official Community Plan 
Amendment – Anmore South Update” be received into the record for information. 
 CARRIED 

 
11. BYLAWS 
 No items 
 
12. RELEASE OF ITEMS FROM CLOSED COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 No items 
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13. MAYOR AND COUNCILLOR REPORTS  
 

Mayor Ross attended the following events: 

• May 26: Eagle Ridge Hospital Honouring Ceremony of Rosalie Dipscu Williams,   
              Kwikwetlem First Nation Artist 

• June 1: Belcarra Day 
• June 5: Sasamat Volunteer Fire Department Board of Trustees Regular Meeting 

 
COUNCILLOR REPORTS 
Councillor Clark  
Councillor Clark attended Belcarra Day. She recognized all those who volunteered for the 
event particularly those members of CRAB. She also attended the Sasamat Volunteer Fire 
Department (SVFD) Board of Trustees Meeting on June 5 and spoke on some of the 
discussion held at that meeting. She highlighted the receipt of a 5-year yearly $10,000 
grant received by the SVFD from BC Hydro and advised on the need for more firefighter 
volunteers from Belcarra.  
 
Councillor Ruzycki 
Councillor Ruzycki attended Belcarra Day on June 8. She also attended the Coquitlam 
Search and Rescue Open House. She advised on the event put on by Search and Rescue 
and complimented the organization for the quality of the open house and the information 
provided.  
 
Councillor Wilder 
Councillor Wilder reported on the funds donated to the SVFD raised at Belcarra Day and 
at the CRAB pub night held in March. 
 

 
13.1 CHIEF ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 

The Chief Administrative Officer provided the following information: 
Operational & Administrative Updates 

• Statement of Financial Interest preparation 
• Water system leak detection and repairs  
• Security system review and update planning  

Notifications/Announcements 
• Municipal Insurance Association of BC grant award for $8,480 to update and 

revise the Village’s records management system. Thank you to Amanda Seibert, 
Corporate Officer, for a successful application.  

• 2024 Annual Report – is available for viewing on the website and front counter 
from June 9-June 23. Council will consider the report and input at the June 23, 
2025, Council meeting.  

• Water main flushing planned to start next week  
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14. OTHER MATTERS DEEMED EXPEDIENT 
 
 No items 
 
15. NOTICES OF MOTION AND MATTERS FOR INTRODUCTION AT FUTURE 

MEETINGS 
 No items 
 
16. PUBLIC QUESTION PERIOD 

Mayor Ross reviewed the procedure for Public Question Period. 
Peter Boekhout, Belcarra resident, asked if a date has been set for the construction of the 
entrance way to WARD. 
The Manager, Municipal Services, advised that repair work on the WARD entrance is 
scheduled for June 24 to 29, 2025. He also advised that the WARD facility will be closed 
during those days and that notifications to residents will be sent out. 
Ken Juvik, Village of Anmore; Anmore Residents Association, thanked Mayor and Council 
for the decorum and respect shown to the Association’s delegation. He advised on the 
timing of upcoming readings of Anmore’s OCP bylaw. 
Peter Boekhout, Belcarra resident, queried when residents will be able to use the new bin 
at WARD. 
The Manager, Municipal Services advised that no date has been set, however, the Village 
will provide notification to residents prior to the new bin being open. 

 
17. ADJOURNMENT 

Moved by: Councillor Wilder 
Seconded by: Councillor Ruzycki 
That the June 9, 2025 Regular Council Meeting be adjourned. 

 
CARRIED 

 The meeting was adjourned at 8:02 pm 

Certified Correct: 

 

 
   
Jamie Ross 
Mayor  

 Amanda Seibert 
Corporate Officer 
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The purpose of the Proposed Bylaw is to amend 
the existing Official Community Plan Bylaw 
No. 532-2014 (the “OCP”) to include the Anmore 
South Neighbourhood Plan as a new chapter for 
the area identified as Anmore South as shown on 
the attached map. In addition, the OCP is amended 
by incorporating multiple text and policy changes, 
revisions to the Regional Context Statement, and 
changes to mapping schedules for consistency with 
the Neighbourhood Plan. These changes relate to 
lands both within and outside of the regional urban 
containment boundary within the Village.

The Neighbourhood Plan envisions a future mixed-use 
development with 1,750 dwelling units, including:

• 20 single family;

• 120 duplex units;

• 960 multi-family/townhome units; and

• 650 residential and mixed-use apartments

The proposed vision also includes opportunities 

for small-scale commercial uses and community 

amenities such as parks, trails, natural areas, and 

recreation facilities.

To accommodate this vision, the OCP land use  

designation for the Anmore South lands would be 

changed from Hillside Residential to Anmore South 

Neighbourhood Plan, enabling the following land uses:

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING
Village of Anmore Official Community Plan Bylaw Amendment

No. 686-2023

Ground-Oriented Housing

Multi-Family | Townhome

Multi-Family | Apartment

Mixed Use

Civic | Community Centre

Civic | Development Reserve

Neighbourhood Park

Conservation + Recreation

NOTICE is hereby given pursuant to section 466 of the Local Government Act, that Anmore Municipal 
Council will hold a Public Hearing to consider the proposed Village of Anmore Official Community Plan Bylaw  
Amendment No. 686-2023 (the “Proposed Bylaw”) in Council Chambers at the Anmore Community Hub, 

2697 Sunnyside Road, Anmore on Monday, June 23, 2025, starting at 6:00 p.m.

6.1.1
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A copy of the bylaw is available for public inspection on the Village’s website at Village Hall > Official Notices  
or in person at the Anmore Community Hub, 2697 Sunnyside Road, Anmore, B.C. from June 12, 2025 to  
June 23, 2025 during regular office hours, Monday to Friday from 8:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m.

All persons who believe their interest in property to be affected by the Proposed Bylaw shall be afforded  
an opportunity to be heard or present written submissions at the Public Hearing. Written comments will be  
considered if submitted in person Monday to Friday, from 8:30 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. at the Anmore Community Hub, 
2697 Sunnyside Road, Anmore, B.C. or, by email to corporateoffice@anmore.com during regular office hours  
as stated above. In order to afford Council time for consideration of written submissions, please allow for delivery 
prior to 12:00 p.m. on June 23, 2025.

Esin Gozukara 
Corporate Officer

2697 Sunnyside Road, Anmore, B.C. V3H 5G9  |  604 469 9877  |  anmore.com

Civic Address Parcel Identifier Legal Address

1605 Sunnyside Rd 031-060-447 LOT 1 DISTRICT LOT 269 GROUP 1  
NEW WESTMINSTER DISTRICT PLAN EPP99431

1755 Sunnyside Rd 031-060-455 LOT 2 DISTRICT LOT 269 GROUP 1  
NEW WESTMINSTER DISTRICT PLAN EPP99431

1600 Sunnyside Rd 031-060-463 LOT 3 DISTRICT LOT 269 GROUP 1  
NEW WESTMINSTER DISTRICT PLAN EPP99431

The Anmore South lands are outlined in a bold black line on the image below and are legally described  
as follows:
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COUNCIL REPORT 

Date: June 23, 2025 

From: Melony Burton, Chief Administrative Officer  

Subject: 2024 Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) 

Recommendations: 
1. That the Village of Belcarra’s 2024 Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) report be

approved; and

2. That the Mayor and Chief Administrative Officer be authorized to sign off on the
applicable statements within the SOFI report.

Purpose: 
The purpose of this report is to introduce the Village’s 2024 SOFI report for approval and 
subsequent sign-off.  

Background: 
The attached SOFI report has been produced pursuant to the requirements of the Financial 
Information Act and the corresponding Financial Information Regulation. As required by legislation 
the following sections are included in the report: 

1. Statement of Financial Information Approval
2. Management Report
3. Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements
4. Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses
5. Statement of Severance Agreements
6. Schedule of Payments for Provision of Goods and/or Services
7. Statement of Inactive Corporations
8. Financial Statements

10.1



Melony Burton, Chief Administrative Officer   
Council Report: 2024 Statement of Financial Information (SOFI)                       
June 23, 2025 
Page 2 of 2 
 
 

 

 
It is recommended that the Village’s 2024 SOFI report be approved for sign-off. Following that, 
the report will be forwarded to the Ministry and made available to the public.  
 
 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Prepared by: Connie Esposito 
                      Accounting Clerk 

 

 
____________________________________ 
Reviewed by: Ken Bjorgaard 
                       Financial Consultant 

 
 

_________________________ 
Concurrence: Melony Burton, 
 Chief Administrative Officer 

 
 

 
 
Attachment 1: Statement of Financial Information (SOFI) Report for the Year Ended 

   December 31, 2024 
 
 



VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 

 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION (SOFI) REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2024 

Sections  Number 

Statement of Financial Information Approval. ............................................................... 1 

Management Report. .......................................................................................................... 2 

Schedule of Guarantee and Indemnity Agreements. ....................................................... 3 

Schedule of Remuneration and Expenses. ........................................................................ 4 

Statement of Severance Agreements. ................................................................................ 5 

Schedule of Payments for Provision of Goods and/or Services ....................................... 6 

Statement of Inactive Corporations. ................................................................................. 7 

Financial Statements. .......................................................................................................... 8 

Published pursuant to the Financial Information Regulation under the 

Financial Information Act of British Columbia 

ATTACHMENT 1 to Item 10.1



 

Section 1 
 
VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION APPROVAL                         

 
The undersigned hereby approve [as noted in Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, 
subsection 9(2)], all of the statements and schedules included in this Statement of Financial 
Information (SOFI) report, produced as required by the Financial Information Act. 
 
 
 

 
 
        ___________________________________ 

 

Melony Burton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
June 24, 2025 

Jamie Ross 
Mayor 
June 24, 2025

 
 

Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 9 (2) 



  

 

 
 
 
 

Section 2 
 

 

VILLAGE OF BELCARRA  
MANAGEMENT REPORT                                                                                      
 
The consolidated financial statements contained in this Statement of Financial Information 
(SOFI) under the Financial Information Act have been prepared by management in accordance 
with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by the Public Sector 
Accounting Board (“PSAB”) of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants. The integrity 
and objectivity of these statements are management’s responsibility. Management is 
responsible for all of the statements and schedules prepared for this Statement of Financial 
Information, and for ensuring that the information is consistent, where appropriate, with the 
information contained in the financial statements. 
Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls 
to provide reasonable assurance that reliable financial information is produced. Council is 
responsible for ensuring that management fulfils its responsibilities for financial reporting and 
internal controls, which in part includes an external audit which is undertaken annually. 
The Village’s external auditors, KPMG LLP, conduct an independent examination, in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. Their examination does not relate to the other schedules and 
statements required by the Financial Information Act. Their examination includes a review and 
evaluation of the Village’s internal control systems and includes appropriate tests and 
procedures to provide a reasonable assurance that the financial statements are presented fairly. 

 
On behalf of the Village of Belcarra, 

 
 

Melony Burton 
Chief Administrative Officer 
June 24, 2025 
 
 
 

 
Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsection 9(3)



 

 

     
              
 

 

 

Section 3 
 

 
VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 

    SCHEDULE OF GUARANTEE AND INDEMNITY AGREEMENTS 
 

The Village of Belcarra has not given any guarantees or indemnities under the Guarantees and 
Indemnities Regulation during the 2024 fiscal year. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsections 5(3) and 5(4) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 

Section 4 
 

VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
SCHEDULE OF REMUNERATION AND EXPENSES  
    

 
 
 

Elected Officials 
    

Name Position Remuneration Expenses Total      
Clark, Carolina Councillor  $         12,480.84  $            560.15   $     13,040.99 
Elworthy, Joe Councillor  $         12,480.84   $            445.15  $     12,925.99 
Ross, Jamie Mayor  $         24,961.56   $         6,424.49  $     31,386.05 
Ruzycki, Janet Councillor  $         12,480.84  $         3,292.18  $     15,773.02 
Wilder, Liisa Councillor  $         12,480.84   $         5,425.28  $     17,906.12 
Total Elected Officials (Mayor and Council)  $         74,884.92   $        16,147.25   $     91,032.17       
Employees 

    

Employee Name Position Remuneration 1 Expenses Total 
     
Fortier, Lance Public Works 

Maintenance Worker 
$          90,358.80  $            343.10  $     90,701.90 

Grewal, Sartaj Building Official $          88,382.67  $            751.53  $     89,134.20 

Novak, Stewart Public Works and 
Emergency Preparedness 
Coordinator 

$        112,679.00  $            391.24  $   113,070.24 

Richardson, Paula Chief Administrative 
Officer 

$        128,174.15   $         6,711.69  $   134,885.84  

Smith, Brad Public Works 
Maintenance Worker 

$          97,997.47  $         2,297.50  $   100,294.97 

Connie Esposito Accounting Clerk & 
Records Management 
Coordinator 

$          79,474.66 $             711.00 $      80,185.66 

Amanda Seibert Corporate Officer $          84,496.33 $                 0.00 $      84,496.33 
     
Total for Employees Over $75,000  $       681,563.08   $       11,206.06   $   692,769.14      

Total For Employees Under $75,000  $         94,965.82   $         1,163.22   $     96,129.04       

Total Remuneration & Expenses for 
Employees  $       776,528.90   $       12,369.28   $   788,898.18       

Total Remuneration & Elected Officials & 
Employees  $       851,413.82   $       28,516.53   $   879,930.35       
1Includes taxable benefits 

   
 

The variance between the remuneration schedules and the salaries, wages and benefit expenses 
reported in the consolidated Financial Statements of the Village of Belcarra are attributable to a 
number of factors, including the fact that the remuneration schedule is based on actual payments made 
during the year, while the financial statements are prepared on an accrual basis. Also, wages and 
benefits in the financial statements include the employer’s cost of benefits, which are not taxable to 
employees, and are thus not included in this schedule. 
Expenses include travel expenses, memberships, tuition, vehicle reimbursements and registration fees 
paid directly to an employee or a third party on behalf of an elected official or employee. 
Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsections 6(2), 6(3), 6(4), 6(5) & 
6(6) 



 

 

Section 5 
 

  
VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
STATEMENT OF SEVERANCE AGREEMENTS                                                           
 
 
There were no severance agreements during the fiscal year 2024. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, subsections 6(7) & 6(8) 



 

 

Section 6 
VILLAGE OF BELCARRA  
SCHEDULE OF PAYMENTS FOR PROVISION OF GOODS AND/OR SERVICES
  
 SUPPLIERS AMOUNT 

  
  
1166618 BC Ltd dba Save on Blacktop              $ 212,865.31 
Blue Pine Enterprises Ltd. 43,760.43 
Bunt & Associates Engineering Ltd. 36,356.25 
District of North Vancouver (water) 90,362.98 
ISL Engineering and Land Services Ltd. 1 73,734.49 
K&E Business Services Inc. 1 109,247.23 
KPMG LLP 31,123.74 
Lidstone & Company Law Corporation 51,585.61 
Municipal Insurance Association of BC 32,497.00 
Municipal Pension Plan 2 105,550.63 
Pacific Blue Cross 53,926.45 
Pooni Group Inc. 1 77,406.13 
Receiver General for Canada (Employment Insurance and Canada 
Pension Plan employer portions) 45,834.78 
Rollins Machinery Ltd. 207,589.76 
Sea to Sky Network Solutions Inc 1 61,482.36 
Waste Connections of Canada 70,800.46 
WSP Canada Inc. 51,258.12 
Young Anderson Barristers & Solicitors 47,480.61 

  
Total Payments to Suppliers Over $25,000            $1,402,862.34  
  
TOTAL PAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS UNDER $25,000 $ 419,232.29 
    
GRANTS & CONTRIBUTIONS                   $2,433.00 
  
GRAND TOTAL $1,824,527.63 

1 Agreements with consultants to provide professional services for as and when needed work 
2 Employer and employee pension contributions 

The Village prepares the schedules of payments based on actual disbursements processed through 
its accounts payable system.  
This schedule of payments is a “cash basis” listing. The figures therefore will differ significantly 
from the expenditures in the consolidated financial statements which are reported on an accrual 
basis, resulting in timing differences. Furthermore, there are disbursements on this schedule which 
are not considered expenditures in the financial statements including payments made to other taxing 
authorities, employee payroll deductions, debt principal repayments and payments for the 
acquisition of tangible capital assets.  
Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 7 and the Financial   
Information Act, section 2



 

 

 
Section 7 

 
 
VILLAGE OF BELCARRA  
STATEMENT OF INACTIVE CORPORATIONS   
 
 
The Village of Belcarra does not have any inactive corporations. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, section 8 
 



 
 

 

Section 8 
 

VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS                                                  

 
(Includes Schedule of Debts) 
 
 
Provided pursuant to Financial Information Regulation, Schedule 1, sections 2,3, 4 & 5 
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MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING 

 

The accompanying financial statements of the Village of Belcarra ("Village") have been prepared by 
management in accordance with Canadian Public Sector Accounting Standards (“PSAS”). 
Preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements is the responsibility of the Village. 

Village Council ensures management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting, budgeting and 
internal controls by approving bylaws and policies, reviewing variance reports and financial 
statements, and having discussions with the Village’s auditors. 

The audit firm of KPMG LLP, appointed by Village Council, has expressed its opinion that the 
financial statements prepared by management fairly present, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Village as at December 31, 2024, and the results of 2024 operations in accordance 
with PSAS. 

The Village maintains a system of internal and administrative controls designed to provide reliable 
and accurate financial information and to ensure assets of the Village are appropriately accounted for 
and adequately safeguarded. Expenditures and revenues are analyzed regularly by finance staff and 
updates are provided to Village Council at the end of the 2nd, 3rd and 4th quarters, and as required. 

 

 

 
_____________________________   _____________________________ 
Mayor       Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 



 
 
 
KPMG LLP  
PO Box 10426 777 Dunsmuir Street 
Vancouver BC V7Y 1K3 
Canada 
Telephone 604-691-3000 
Fax 604-691-3031 
 

KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP. 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
To the Council of Village of Belcarra 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Village of Belcarra (the “Village”), which comprise: 

 the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024 

 the statement of operations for the year then ended 

 the statement of changes in net financial assets (debt) for the year then ended 

 the statement of cash flows for the year then ended 

 and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies  

(hereinafter referred to as the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of the Village as at December 31, 2024, and its results of operations, its changes in 
net financial assets (debt) and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian 
public sector accounting standards. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Financial Statements” section of our auditor’s report. 

We are independent of the Village in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian public sector accounting standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Village’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Village or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Village’s financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of the financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.  

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Village’s internal control.  

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Village’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Village to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 Communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
 
Vancouver, Canada 
April 14, 2025 
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VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
Statement of Financial Position 
 
December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Financial assets 

Cash $ 3,156,922 $ 3,002,723 
Investments (note 3) 1,119,092 1,085,649 
Receivables (note 4) 326,697 180,993 
MFA debt reserve deposit (note 8) 61,494 59,422 
  4,664,205 4,328,787 

 
Liabilities: 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (note 5) 220,210 171,145 
Performance bonds and refundable deposits (note 6) 169,707 242,123 
Deferred revenue (note 7) 501,255 323,536 
Debt (note 8) 2,813,955 2,984,969 
Employee future benefit (note 13) 18,100 13,600 
  3,723,227 3,735,373 

 
Net financial assets 940,978 593,414 
 
Non-financial assets: 

Tangible capital assets (note 9) 10,738,548 10,429,030 
Prepaid expenses 15,475 12,992 
Inventories held for consumption 25,079 22,143 
  10,779,102 10,464,165 

 
Accumulated surplus (note 10) $ 11,720,080 $ 11,057,579 
 
Commitments and contingencies (note 11) 
Contractual rights (note 16) 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 
 
 
    
Paula Richardson 
Chief Administrative Officer 
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VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
Statement of Operations 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 
  2024 Budget 2024 2023 
  (notes 1(g) 

 and 17) 
 
Revenue: 

Taxation (including grants in lieu) $ 1,393,056 $ 1,390,116 $  1,290,159 
Sales of services and regulatory fees 803,059 791,717 732,474 
Government transfers 881,465 783,426 1,329,802 
Investment income 162,507 208,937 182,973 
Actuarial income 50,547 52,011 46,163 
Other 17,746 15,876 36,962 
  3,308,380 3,242,083 3,618,533 

 
Expenses: 

General government and fiscal services 352,253 300,620 306,802 
Administration and human resources 305,679 304,688 267,208 
Information technology 51,751 76,665 68,149 
Support services (engineering, finance 

and planning) 229,121 236,262 282,860 
Building inspection and bylaw enforcement 117,452 123,421 101,573 
Public works and transportation 348,686 361,025 389,471 
Major road network (“MRN”) 139,169 171,121 136,440 
Fire and emergency services 8,945 9,301 5,183 
Waste and recycle depot (“WARD”) 225,390 229,061 206,772 
Water system 737,188 725,012 743,176 
  2,515,634 2,537,176 2,507,634 

 
Annual surplus 792,746 704,907 1,110,899 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year, 

as previously reported 11,057,579 11,057,579 9,946,680 
Adjustment on adoption of PS 3400 

Revenue accounting standard (note 2(a)) - (42,406) - 
 
Accumulated surplus, beginning of year 

as adjusted 11,057,579 11,015,173 9,946,680 
 
Accumulated surplus, end of year $ 11,850,325 $ 11,720,080 $ 11,057,579 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
 
 
 



 

3 

VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
Statement of Changes in Net Financial Assets (Debt) 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 
  2024 Budget 2024 2023 
  (notes 1(g) 

 and 17) 
 
Annual surplus $ 792,746 $ 704,907 $ 1,110,899 
 
Acquisition of tangible capital assets (1,176,406) (612,408) (295,603) 
Amortization of tangible capital assets 371,555 295,396 306,857 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 7,494 65,707 
  (804,851) (309,518) 76,961 
 
Prepaid expenses consumed (acquired) - (2,483) 276 
Inventories held for consumption 

consumed (acquired) - (2,936) 3,376 
  - (5,419) 3,652 
 
Change in net financial assets (debt) (12,105) 389,970 1,191,512 
 
Net financial assets (debt), beginning of year, 

as previously reported 593,414 593,414 (598,098) 
Adjustment on adoption of PS 3400 

Revenue accounting standard (note 2(a)) - (42,406) - 
 
Net financial assets (debt), beginning of year, 

as adjusted 593,414 551,008 (598,098) 
 
Net financial assets, end of year $ 581,309 $ 940,978 $  593,414 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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VILLAGE OF BELCARRA 
Statement of Cash Flows 
 
Year ended December 31, 2024, with comparative information for 2023 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Cash provided by (used in): 
 
Operating activities: 

Annual surplus $ 704,907  $ 1,110,899 
Items not involving cash: 

Amortization of tangible capital assets 295,396 306,857 
Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets 7,494 65,707 
Actuarial income on debt (52,011) (46,163) 

  955,786 1,437,300 
Changes in non-cash operating working capital: 

Receivables (145,704) (86,416) 
MFA debt reserve deposit (2,072) (1,791) 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 49,065 62,737 
Performance bonds and refundable deposits (72,416) (16,611) 
Deferred revenue 135,313 4,928 
Employee future benefit 4,500 600 
Prepaid expenses (2,483) 276 
Inventories held for consumption (2,936) 3,376 

 919,053 1,404,399 
 
Financing activity: 

Principal payments on debt (119,003) (119,002) 
 
Investing activity: 

Purchase of investments (33,443) (34,131) 
 
Capital activity: 

Acquisition of tangible capital assets (612,408) (295,603) 
 
Increase in cash 154,199 955,663 
 
Cash, beginning of year 3,002,723 2,047,060 
 
Cash, end of year $ 3,156,922 $ 3,002,723 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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Village of Belcarra (the “Village”) is a municipality in the Province of British Columbia which operates 
under the provisions of the Local Government Act and Community Charter. The Village’s principal 
activities include the provision of local government services to residents and businesses.  
 

1. Significant accounting policies: 

The Village prepares its financial statements in accordance with Canadian Public Sector 
Accounting Standards (“PSAS”), which includes the following significant accounting policies: 

(a) Basis of presentation: 

The financial statements present the resources and operations including all accounts and 
funds of the Village. All inter-fund transactions have been eliminated. 

(b) Non-financial assets: 

Non-financial assets are not available to discharge existing liabilities and are held for use in 
the provision of goods and services. They have useful lives extending beyond the current 
year and are not intended for sale in the ordinary course of operations. 

(i) Tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets are initially recorded at cost which includes amounts that are 
directly attributable to acquisition, construction, development or betterment of the asset. 
The cost, less residual value, of tangible capital assets, excluding land, is amortized on a 
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Asset  Useful life - years 
 
Buildings and facilities  7 to 50 
Vehicles, machinery and equipment 7 to 20 
Office furniture and equipment  4 to 15 
Recycling depot  7 to 30 
Roads and sidewalks   5 to 75 
Storm sewer infrastructure   15 to 45 
Water system infrastructure   7 to 100 
 
 
Annual amortization is charged commencing when the asset is available for use. Assets 
under construction are not amortized until the asset is put into productive use. 

When events or circumstances indicate that a tangible capital asset no longer has any 
long-term service potential, the net carrying amount is written down to the residual value 
of the asset.  

Tangible capital assets received as contributions are recorded at their fair value at the 
date of receipt and also are recorded as revenue. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(b) Non-financial assets (continued): 

(ii) Works of art and heritage assets: 

Works of art and heritage assets are not recorded as assets in these financial statements 
as stipulated by PSAS. 

(iii) Interest capitalization: 

The Village does not capitalize interest costs associated with the acquisition or 
construction of tangible capital assets. 

(iv) Leased tangible capital assets: 

Leases that transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks incidental to ownership of 
property are accounted for as leased tangible capital assets. All other leases are 
accounted for as operating leases and the related payments are charged to expenses as 
incurred. 

(v) Inventories held for consumption: 

Inventories of supplies held for consumption are recorded at the lower of cost and 
replacement cost. 

(c) Debt: 

Debt is recorded net of related sinking fund balances held by the Municipal Finance Authority 
of BC (“MFA”). 

(d) Employee future benefits: 

The Village and its employees make contributions to the Municipal Pension Plan. The 
Municipal Pension Plan is a multi-employer contributory defined benefit pension plan. These 
contributions are expensed as incurred. 

The Village also accrues non-vested sick leave. The liability relating to these benefits is 
actuarially determined based on service and best estimates of retirement ages and expected 
future salary and wage increases. The liability under this benefit plan is accrued based on 
projected benefits as the employees render services necessary to earn the future benefits. 

(e) Revenue recognition: 

(i) Taxation (including grants in lieu): 

Annual taxation revenues are recognized in the year they are levied and are calculated 
using the approved tax rates in the annual tax rates bylaw. Property taxes paid in 
advance of the year to which they relate are recorded in deferred revenue. Property taxes 
imposed by other taxing authorities are not included as taxes for municipal purposes. 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(e) Revenue recognition (continued): 

(ii) Government transfers: 

Restricted transfers from governments are initially deferred and subsequently recognized 
as revenue as the related expenditures are incurred or the stipulations in the related 
agreement are met. Unrestricted transfers are recognized as revenue when received or 
receivable, provided the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and 
collection is reasonably assured. 

(iii) Sales of services and regulatory fees revenue and other revenue: 

Sales of services and regulatory fees revenue and other revenue are recognized when 
the Village has the right to retain the inflow, identifies a past transaction or event giving 
rise to the asset, and if there are performance obligations, the performance obligations 
have been fulfilled. The Village’s performance obligations are usually the transfer of a 
good or provision of a service. If a performance obligation has not been fulfilled, the 
related amount is recorded in deferred revenue. 

(f) Expense recognition: 

Expenses are recorded on an accrual basis and are recognized upon receipt of goods or 
services. Interest expense on debt is recorded on an accrual basis in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities. 

(g) Budget reporting: 

The budget figures reported in the statement of operations and statement of changes in net 
financial assets (debt) represent the 2024 component of the Village of Belcarra 5-Year (2024 
– 2028) Financial Plan Bylaw No. 623, 2024, adopted by Village Council on April 2, 2024. 

(h) Use of accounting estimates: 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported 
amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. Adjustments, if any, will be reflected in the financial statements in the period 
of settlement or change in the amount of the estimate. 

(i) Segment disclosures: 

A segment is defined as a distinguishable activity or group of activities of a government for 
which it is appropriate to separately report financial information to achieve the objectives in 
PSAS. The Village has provided definitions of segments as well as presented financial 
information in segmented format (note 18). 
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(j) Contaminated sites: 

Contaminated sites are a result of contamination being introduced into air, soil, water, or 
sediment of a chemical, organic or radioactive material or live organism that exceeds an 
environmental standard. A liability for contaminated sites is recognized net of any expected 
recoveries when a site is not in productive use and the following criteria are met: 

(i) An environmental standard exists; 

(ii) Contamination exceeds the environmental standard; 

(iii) The Village is directly responsible or accepts responsibility; 

(iv) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and 

(v) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The liability is recognized as management’s estimate of the cost of remediation and post-
remediation including operation, maintenance and monitoring that are an integral part of the 
remediation strategy for a contaminated site. The Village has no liability for contaminated 
sites as at year-end. 

(k) Asset retirement obligations: 

An asset retirement obligation is recognized when, as at financial reporting date, all of the 
following criteria are met: 

(i) There is a legal obligation to incur retirement costs in relation to a tangible capital asset; 

(ii) The past transaction or event giving rise to the liability has occurred; 

(iii) It is expected that future economic benefits will be given up; and, 

(iv) A reasonable estimate of the amount can be made. 

The estimate of the asset retirement obligation includes costs directly attributable to the asset 
retirement activities and is recorded as a liability and increase to the related tangible capital 
assets if the tangible capital asset is in productive use. The asset retirement obligation is 
recorded as a liability and expense if the related tangible capital asset is unrecognized or no 
longer in productive use. The Village determined there were no significant asset retirement 
obligations associated with its tangible capital assets as at year end.  
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1. Significant accounting policies (continued): 

(l) Financial instruments: 

The Village’s financial instruments include cash, investments, receivables, accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities and debt.  

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value on initial recognition. Equity instruments 
quoted in an active market and derivatives are subsequently recorded at fair value as at the 
reporting date. All other financial instruments are subsequently recorded at cost or amortized 
cost unless the Village elects to carry the instruments at fair value. The Village has not 
elected to carry any financial instruments at fair value. 

Unrealized changes in fair value are recognized on the statement of remeasurement gains 
and losses. They are recorded in the statement of operations when they are realized. There 
are no unrealized changes in fair value as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. 
As a result, the Village does not have a statement of remeasurement gains and losses.  

Transaction costs incurred on the acquisition of financial instruments subsequently measured 
at fair value are expensed as incurred. Investment transactions are recorded on the trade 
date.  

All financial assets are assessed for impairment on an annual basis. When a decline is 
determined to be other than temporary, the amount of the loss is reported in the statement of 
operations. 

 

2. Adoption of new accounting standards: 

(a) PS 3400 Revenue: 

On January 1, 2024, the Village adopted Canadian public sector accounting standard PS 
3400 Revenue. The standard establishes a single framework to categorize revenue to 
enhance the consistency of revenue recognition and its measurement. The standard was 
adopted using the prospective transitional provisions. Adoption of the new accounting 
standard resulted in an adjustment to opening accumulated surplus as at January 1, 2024 of 
$42,406. As at December 31, 2024, deferred revenue of $48,693 has been recorded for 
permit and inspection fees. 

(b) PSG-8 Purchased Intangibles: 

On January 1, 2024, the Village adopted Canadian public sector accounting guideline PSG-8 
Purchased Intangibles. The new accounting guideline permits recognition of purchased 
intangibles that are acquired through an arm’s length exchange transaction between willing 
parties provided the purchased intangible meets the recognition criteria for an asset. The 
adoption of this new guideline did not have an impact on the amounts presented in these 
financial statements. 
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2. Adoption of new accounting standards (continued): 

(c) PS 3160 Public Private Partnerships: 

On January 1, 2024, the Village adopted Canadian public sector accounting standard PS 
3160 Public Private Partnerships. The new accounting standard includes requirements for the 
recognition, measurement and classification of infrastructure procured through a public 
private partnership. The adoption of this new standard did not have an impact on the 
amounts presented in these financial statements. 

 

3. Investments: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
MFA short-term bond fund $ 1,119,092 $ 1,085,649 
 
The fair value of the investments as at December 31, 2024 is $1,093,811 (2023 - $1,038,711). 
 

4. Receivables: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Municipal property taxes and user fees $ 112,983 $  34,947 
Accounts receivable 46,056 49,301 
Grants receivable 119,919 63,665 
Goods and services tax 47,739 33,080 
 
  $ 326,697  $ 180,993 
 

5. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Trade accounts payables and accruals $ 138,348 $  103,509 
MFA debt interest expense accrual 36,300 36,300 
Payroll accrual 45,562 31,336 
 
  $ 220,210 $  171,145 
 

6. Performance bonds and refundable deposits: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Performance bonds $ 164,383 $ 236,799 
Refundable deposits 5,324 5,324 
 
  $ 169,707 $ 242,123 
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7. Deferred revenue: 
 
   Contributions 
   received and 
   adoption of new 
  Balance, accounting Restricted  Balance, 
  beginning of standard interest Revenue end of 
  year (note 2(a)) income recognized year 
 
Municipal Insurance 

Association $ 328 $ - $ - $ - $ 328 
Climate change  

action plan grant (a) 90,164 132,094 - (126,927) 95,331 
Major road network  

grant (b) 69,821 136,095 3,080 (171,120) 37,876 
Next Generation 9-1-1 

grant (c) 22,500 - - - 22,500 
Local Government 

Housing Initiatives (d) - 153,144 - (57,601) 95,543 
Emergency Management 

Grant (e)  - 40,000 - (5,439) 34,561 
Property taxes paid  

in advance (f) 140,723 331,478 7,491 (313,269) 166,423 
Permit and inspection 

fees (note 2(a)) -  67,031 -  (18,338) 48,693 
 
  $ 323,536 $ 859,842 $ 10,571 $ (692,694) $ 501,255 
 
(a) Climate change action plan grant: 

Funding provided by the Province of British Columbia (the “Province”) to fund implementation 
of climate action that will reduce emissions, create new opportunities for people in the clean 
economy and prepare the community for future climate impacts. The grant is carried forward 
for use in future years.  

(b) Major road network (“MRN”) grant: 

Annually, the Village receives a grant from the South Coast British Columbia Transportation 
Authority (“TransLink”) intended to cover the operating and maintenance costs of Bedwell 
Bay Road as it is designated as part of the MRN. Amounts received in excess of actual costs 
incurred are carried forward for use in future years. 

(c) Next Generation 9-1-1 (“NG9-1-1”) grant: 

Funding provided by the Province and administered by the Union of BC Municipalities to 
support local preparedness for the implementation of NG9-1-1. NG9-1-1 is an initiative aimed 
at updating the 9-1-1 service infrastructure to improve public emergency communications 
services in a growing wireless mobile society. In addition to calling 9-1-1 from a phone, it 
enables the public to transmit text, images, video and data to the 9-1-1 center. The NG9-1-1 
infrastructure is intended to replace the current services over time.  
The Village has been awarded $45,000 under this grant program, 50% of which was received 
in 2023 and will be spent in future years. 
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7. Deferred revenue (continued): 

(d) Local Government Housing Initiatives (“LGHI”) grant: 

Funding provided by the Province under the LGHI program to adopt requirements for small-
scale multi-unit housing, proactively plan housing initiatives and transit-oriented development 
areas, and adopt development finance tools, which are part of the Province’s new legislative 
requirements. Grants received in excess of actual costs incurred are carried forward for use 
in future years. 

(e)  Emergency Management grant: 

Funding provided by the Province to support the implementation of Indigenous engagement 
requirements in the Emergency and Disaster Management Act. Amounts received in excess 
of actual costs incurred are carried forward for use in future years. 

(f) Property taxes paid in advance: 

Property tax overpayments and advance payments by property owners who choose to 
participate in the Village’s Tax Prepayment Plan are carried forward for use in the following 
year. 

 

8. Debt: 

The Village obtained a 25-year debt instrument through the MFA in 2012, pursuant to a security 
issuing bylaw under authority of the Community Charter, to finance capital expenditures for the 
installation of a potable water system serving most of the Village. Principal payments and 
actuarial adjustments managed by MFA are netted against related debts. Details are as follows: 
 
     Cumulative 
     principal 
     payments 
Bylaw Maturity Interest  and actuarial 
number date rate Authorized adjustments 2024 2023 
 
 
 413 2037 3.39% $ 4,441,330 $ 1,627,375 $ 2,813,955 $ 2,984,969 
 

The total interest paid on the debt for the year was $150,561 (2023 - $150,561). 

As a condition of this borrowing, a portion of the debt proceeds is withheld by the MFA in a debt 
reserve deposit. The Village has also executed a demand note in connection with the debt. The 
demand note is contingent in nature and is not reflected in the financial statements. The details of 
the debt reserve deposit and contingent demand note at December 31 are as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Debt reserve deposit $ 61,494 $ 59,422 
Demand note 73,309 73,309 
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8. Debt (continued): 

Future principal payments and actuarial adjustments on the outstanding debt over the next five 
years and thereafter are as follows: 
 
 
2025   $ 175,484 
2026  181,626 
2027  187,982 
2028  194,562 
2029  201,371 
Future years  1,872,930 
 
    $ 2,813,955 
 
The Village has a revolving credit facility of $230,000, payable on demand, bearing interest at the 
lender's prime rate of interest per annum and is not collateralized. The revolving credit facility was 
unused as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023. 
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9. Tangible capital assets: 
 
   Vehicle Office 
  Buildings machinery furniture  Road Storm Water Assets 
  and and and Recycling and sewer system under 2024 2023 
 Land facilities  equipment equipment depot sidewalks infrastructure infrastructure construction Total Total 
 
Cost: 

Opening balance $ 329,318 $ 522,093 $ 471,530 $ 192,000 $ 158,378 $ 2,879,722 $ 407,526 $ 9,741,923 $ 32,472 $ 14,734,962 $ 14,592,988 
Add: Additions, net of transfers - 6,378 208,166 8,371 - 57,742 - - 331,751 612,408 295,603 
Less: Disposals - (14,800) (10,508) - - - - - - (25,308) (153,629) 
 329,318 513,671 669,188 200,371 158,378 2,937,464 407,526 9,741,923 364,223 15,322,062 14,734,962 

 
Accumulated amortization: 

Opening balance - 299,514 206,613 148,478 106,963 1,261,052 315,167 1,968,145 - 4,305,932 4,086,997 
Add: Amortization - 18,482 27,741 13,990 5,963 72,962 2,753 153,505 - 295,396 306,857 
Less: Accumulated amortization on disposals - (10,545) (7,269) - - - - - - (17,814) (87,922) 
 - 307,451 227,085 162,468 112,926 1,334,014 317,920 2,121,650 - 4,583,514 4,305,932 

 
Net book value, end of year $ 329,318 $ 206,220 $ 442,103 $ 37,903 $ 45,452 $ 1,603,450 $ 89,606 $ 7,620,273 $ 364,223 $ 10,738,548 $ 10,429,030 
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10. Accumulated surplus: 
 
      Increase 
    2024 2023 (decrease) 
 
Unrestricted operating surplus: 

General operating surplus $ 280,205 $ 285,963 $ (5,758) 
Waste and recycle depot (“WARD”)  
 operating (deficit) surplus (14,931) 2,582 (17,513) 
Water operating surplus 104,801 91,970 12,831 

Total unrestricted operating surplus (a) 370,075 380,515 (10,440) 
 
Statutory reserve funds: 

Community works gas tax 153,880 364,121 (210,241) 
Financial stabilization 161,924 93,771 68,153 
General capital  1,131,617 1,140,711 (9,094) 
Growing Communities Fund 828,725 782,583 46,142 
MFA cash deposit 61,491 59,422 2,069 
Transportation infrastructure 681,921 520,003 161,918 
Vehicles and equipment 207,443 113,259 94,184 
Water capital 158,417 120,129 38,288 
Water debt repayment 14,915 16,861 (1,946) 

Total statutory reserve funds (b) 3,400,333 3,210,860 189,473 
 
Investment in tangible capital assets: 

Tangible capital assets 10,738,548 10,429,030 309,518 
Less debt (2,813,955) (2,984,969) 171,014 

 
Total investment in tangible capital assets (c) 7,924,593 7,444,061 480,532 
 
Inventories held for consumption (c) 25,079 22,143 2,936 
 
Total accumulated surplus $ 11,720,080 $ 11,057,579 $ 662,501 
 
(a) Unrestricted operating surplus: 

Unrestricted operating surplus is available to temporarily finance operations until planned 
revenues (i.e. property taxes, fees, grants etc.) are received, or for other operating or capital 
purposes as determined by Village Council, to the extent that it is available. 

(b) Statutory reserve funds: 

The Village establishes reserve funds by bylaw in accordance with the Community Charter 
and their use is restricted by the related bylaw and legislation. In the normal course of 
operations, these funds will be used to finance the future services or capital works for which 
they have been appropriated.  
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10. Accumulated surplus (continued): 

(c) Investment in tangible capital assets and inventories held for consumption: 

Investment in tangible capital assets is equal to the book value of the tangible capital assets 
less related debt. In the normal course of operations, the tangible capital assets and 
inventories held for consumption will not be available to finance operations, but will be 
consumed to provide services, and the debt will be repaid with future revenues. 

 

11. Commitments and contingencies: 

(a) Contingent liability: 

The loan agreements with the Metro Vancouver Regional District, Greater Vancouver Water 
District, Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District, and the MFA provide that, if at 
any time the scheduled payments provided for in the agreements are not sufficient to meet 
the MFA’s obligations in respect of such borrowing, the resulting deficiency becomes a joint 
and several liability of the Village and the other parties. Management does not consider 
payment under this contingency to be likely and therefore no liability has been recorded. 

(b) Third party claims: 

There is a lawsuit and claim pending by and against the Village. The outcome of this claim is 
undeterminable and it is the opinion of management that final determination of this claim will 
not materially affect the financial statements of the Village. 

 

12. Pension plan: 

The Village and its employees contribute to the Municipal Pension Plan (a jointly trusteed pension 
plan). The board of trustees, representing plan members and employers, is responsible for 
administering the plan, including investment of assets and administration of benefits. The plan is 
a multi-employer defined benefit pension plan. Basic pension benefits are based on a formula. As 
at December 31, 2023, the plan has about 256,000 active members and approximately 129,000 
retired members. Active members include approximately 45,000 contributors from local 
governments. 

Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the plan 
and adequacy of plan funding. The actuary determines an appropriate combined employer and 
member contribution rate to fund the plan. The actuary’s calculated contribution rate is based on 
the entry-age normal cost method, which produces the long-term rate of member and employer 
contributions sufficient to provide benefits for average future entrants to the plan. This rate may 
be adjusted for the amortization of any actuarial funding surplus and will be adjusted for the 
amortization of any unfunded actuarial liability.  

The most recent actuarial valuation for the Municipal Pension Plan as at December 31, 2021, 
indicated a $3,761 million funding surplus for basic pension benefits on a going concern basis. 
The next valuation will be as at December 31, 2024, with results available in 2025. 
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12. Pension plan (continued): 

The Village paid $54,837 (2023 - $41,915) for employer contributions to the plan in 2024. 

Employers participating in the plan record their pension expense as the amount of employer 
contributions made during the fiscal year (defined contribution pension plan accounting). This is 
because the plan records accrued liabilities and accrued assets for the plan in aggregate, 
resulting in no consistent and reliable basis for allocating the obligation, assets and cost to 
individual employers participating in the plan. 

 

13. Employee future benefits: 

The Village provides non-vested sick leave to its employees. The accrued benefit liability related 
to these benefits is determined as follows:  
 
  2024 2023 
 
Accrued benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 14,800 $ 14,400 
Current service cost 2,700 2,700 
Interest cost 400 300 
Benefits paid (2,300) (2,400) 
Amortization of actuarial gain (200) (200) 
 
Accrued benefit obligation, end of year 15,400 14,800 
 
Unamortized actuarial loss (gain) 2,700 (1,200) 
 
Accrued benefit liability, end of year $ 18,100 $ 13,600  
 
Actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service period of 
the related employee group commencing the year after the gain or loss arises. 

An actuarial valuation of the Village’s accrued sick leave benefit obligation was completed as at 
December 31, 2024. The actuarial assumptions used to determine the Village’s accrued benefit 
obligation are as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Discount rate 4.1% 2.4% 
Expected wage and salary range increases 2.5% 2.5% 
Expected average remaining service period 11 years 16 years 
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14. Collections for other governments: 

The Village collects certain taxation revenue on behalf of other government bodies. These funds 
are excluded from the Village's financial statements as they are not revenue of the Village. Such 
taxes collected and remitted to other government bodies during the year are as follows: 
 
  2024 2023 
 
Province of British Columbia - school tax $ 1,297,690 $ 1,171,102 
TransLink 231,021 176,299 
Metro Vancouver Regional District 406,134 374,826 
Police tax 121,756 112,818 
BC Assessment and MFA 30,126 27,496 
 
  $ 2,086,727 $ 1,862,541 
 

15. Water parcel taxes: 

Water parcel taxes are collected each year to pay the annual interest and principal debt 
payments on debt incurred by the Village for the potable water system construction project. The 
water parcel tax commenced with the first debt payment requirement in 2013 and will continue for 
the 25-year term of the related debt (note 8), provided the debt is not otherwise repaid. 

The water parcel charge is charged to all taxable parcels that benefit from the construction of the 
potable water system, with the exception of those parcels that have paid the water parcel charge 
in full, as defined in the Village of Belcarra Water Supply and Distribution Local Area Service No. 
1 Establishment and Loan Authorization Bylaw No. 413, 2008. 

 

16. Contractual rights: 

The Village’s contractual rights arise from rights to receive payments under grant and other 
agreements. The Village has the right to collect water parcel taxes between 2025 and 2037 in the 
total amount of $3,464,573, which will be recorded in the year to which it relates. Revenue from 
other contractual rights is difficult to quantify and has not been recorded. 
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17. Budget: 

Legislatively, the budget must balance planned revenue sources with planned expenditures or 
use of funds (referred to as the balanced budget requirement). The table below demonstrates 
how the legislative requirement for a balanced budget has been met. 
 
 2024 
 Budget 2024 2023 
 
Annual surplus, statement of operations $ 792,746 $ 704,907 $ 1,110,899 
 
Adjustments for non-cash items: 

Add: Amortization of tangible capital asset 371,555 295,396 306,857 
Add: Loss on disposal of tangible capital assets - 7,494 65,707 
Add: Changes in inventories held for consumption - - 3,738 
Deduct: MFA actuarial interest (50,547) (52,011)  (46,163) 

 
Adjustments for cash items that are not revenues or 

expenses, but are sources or uses of funds: 
Less: Capital expenditures (1,176,406) (612,408) (295,603) 
Less: Inventories held for consumption acquired - (2,936) (361) 
Less: Debt principal repayment (119,002)  (119,002) (119,002) 

 
Net transfers for operating or capital purposes: 

To reserves 195,836 (189,475) (1,036,328) 
From surplus 12,348 17,513 38,929 
To surplus (annual surplus) (26,530) (49,478) (28,673) 

 
  $ - $ - $ - 
 

18. Segment reporting: 

The Village provides a wide range of municipal services. These services have been grouped into 
related departmental functions or service areas for segment reporting purposes. The following 
schedule shows the associated revenue and expenses for each segment. The various segments 
and the associated departmental functions or services are as follows: 

General Government and Fiscal Services: 

This segment is comprised of services that relate to Village Council’s legislative function including 
grants and elections. Functions that apply to the Village as a whole such as municipal hall 
upkeep, insurance, audit, banking and legal are included in this segment. 
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18. Segment reporting (continued): 

Administration and Human Resources: 

This segment includes Council support services, management of legal issues, records 
management, various human resources functions and oversight of departmental areas. 

Information Technology: 

This segment is comprised of services related to the Village’s information systems technology 
and infrastructure including its website. 

Support Services (engineering, finance and planning): 

This segment includes the Village’s contracted support services for engineering, finance and 
planning. These services are provided on an as needed basis.  

Building Inspection and Bylaw Enforcement: 

This segment provides for building inspection and bylaw enforcement services and includes 
enforcement of various regulatory bylaws such as parking. 

Public Works and Transportation: 

This segment includes the provision of services that relate to the Village’s roads, bridges and 
drainage systems as well as for the maintenance of pedestrian walkways and trails. 

Major Road Network ("MRN”): 

This segment involves the maintenance and upkeep of the regional Bedwell Bay Road, the costs 
of which are funded by TransLink. 

Fire and Emergency Services: 

This segment includes emergency planning and response services and minor expenditures 
related to fire protective, as the Sasamat Fire Department and its related services are shared 
regional services requisitioned and funded through the Metro Vancouver Regional District. 

Waste and Recycle Depot (“WARD”): 

This segment provides for refuse and recycling collection at the drop-off center and pick-up and 
disposal of these same materials. 

Water System: 

This segment provides for the distribution and treatment of the water supply which is used for 
domestic and firefighting purposes. 
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18. Segment reporting (continued): 
 
    Support 
 General   services Building 
 government Administration  (engineering inspection Public  
 and fiscal and human Information finance and and bylaw works and Carried 
 services resources technology planning) enforcement transportation forward 
 
Revenue: 

Taxation (including grants in lieu) $ 1,123,610 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ 1,123,610 
Sales of services and regulatory fees 8,800 - - - 115,055 2,500 126,355 
Government transfers 471,206 - - - - 141,099 612,305 
Investment income 193,469 - - - - - 193,469 
Actuarial income - - - - - - - 
Other 15,876 - - - - - 15,876 
  1,812,961 -   115,055 143,599 2,071,615 

Expenses: 
Indemnities, salaries, and benefits 94,213 382,068 - - 153,399 229,767 859,447 
Contracted services 142,914 7,919 84,071 269,936 9,024 14,314 528,178 
Supplies and materials 121,135 16,012 - - 3,132 52,320 192,599 
Grants 1,948 - - - - - 1,948 
Interest and other 15,721 - - - - 7,494 23,215 
Amortization 18,482 - 13,990 - - 103,456 135,928 
Cost recoveries (93,793) (101,311) (21,396) (33,674) (42,134) (46,326) (338,634) 
  300,620 304,688 76,665 236,262 123,421 361,025 1,402,681 

 
Annual surplus (deficit) $ 1,512,341 $ (304,688) $ (76,665) $ (236,262) $ (8,366) $ (217,426) $ 668,934 
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18. Segment reporting (continued): 
 
  Major road Fire and Waste and 
 Brought network emergency recycle depot Water 
 forward (“MRN”) services (“WARD”) system 2024 2023 
 
Revenue: 

Taxation (including grants in lieu) $ 1,123,610 $ - $ - $ - $ 266,506 $ 1,390,116 $ 1,290,159 
Sales of services and regulatory fees 126,355 - - 205,585 459,777 791,717 732,474 
Government transfers 612,305 171,120 - - - 783,426 1,329,802 
Investment income 193,469 - - - 15,468 208,937 182,973 
Actuarial income - - - - 52,011 52,011 46,163 
Other 15,876 - - - - 15,876 36,962 
  2,071,615 171,120 - 205,585 793,762 3,242,083 3,618,533 

Expenses: 
Indemnities, salaries, and benefits 859,447 57,082 - 51,699 64,160 1,032,388 908,134 
Contracted services 528,178 - 5,440 75,636 143,394 752,648 724,827 
Supplies and materials 192,599 49,122 5,180 3,862 30,257 281,020 334,602 
Grants 1,948 - - - - 1,948 2,668 
Interest and other 23,215 - - - 150,561 173,776 230,546 
Amortization 135,928 - - 5,963 153,505 295,396 306,857 
Cost recoveries (338,634) 64,917 (1,319) 91,901 183,135 - - 
  1,402,681 171,121 9,301 229,061 725,012 2,537,176 2,507,634 

 
Annual surplus (deficit) $ 668,934 $ - $ (9,301) $ (23,476) $ 68,750 $ 704,907 $ 1,110,899 
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19. Financial risk management: 

Village Council ensures that the Village has identified its major risks and ensures that 
management monitors and mitigates them. 

(a) Credit risk: 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations. The Village is exposed to credit risk with respect to its cash, 
investments and receivables. The Village limits its exposure to credit risk by placing its cash 
and investments with high credit quality institutions. Receivables mainly consist of property 
taxes, utilities, grants, trade and other receivables. The Community Charter grants authority 
to the Village to enforce the collection of property taxes and outstanding utility charges. As at 
December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, there were no significant collection issues 
related to outstanding receivables. The Village has recorded an allowance for doubtful 
accounts of $86,823 (2023 - $71,101). 

(b) Liquidity risk: 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Village will not be able to meet its obligations as they fall due. 
The Village is exposed to liquidity risk with respect to its accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities. The Village maintains adequate levels of working capital to ensure all obligations 
can be met when they fall due. The Village maintains strong liquidity from its cash and 
investments balances. 

(e) Interest rate risk: 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in the market interest rates. The Village is exposed to interest 
rate risk on its investments, whose underlying securities are short-term bonds (note 3), and 
its debt (note 8). 

There has been no change to the financial risks from the prior year. 
 

20. Comparative information: 

Certain comparative information has been changed to conform with the current year’s 
presentation. The changes in presentation had no impact on the annual surplus. 
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Schedule 1 – Local Government Housing Initiatives Grant 

The Local Government Housing Initiatives Grant (“LGHI”) grant received from the Province under the 
LGHI program is a one-time grant provided to all British Columbia communities, including the Village. 
This grant has been provided to support local government planning capacity to adopt LGHI 
requirements for small-scale multi-unit housing, proactively plan housing and transit-oriented 
development areas, and adopt development finance tools, which are part of the Province’s new 
legislative requirements.  

The Province has provided a list of eligible expenditures for which the LGHI grant can be used. 
 
   Total 
 
Funds received in 2024   $ 153,144 
 
Funds utilized during 2024: 

Review and analysis of new legislation  (24,561) 
Options for increasing housing on unused lands  (28,640) 
Housing needs report  (4,400) 

 
Balance, December 31, 2024   $ 95,543 
 
Schedule 2 - Growing Communities Fund Grant: 

The Growing Communities Fund (“GCF”) grant received from the Province under the GCF program is 
a one-time grant provided to all British Columbia communities, including the Village. The Province 
has provided a list of eligible expenditures for which the GCF grant can be used. 

As a condition of this funding, the GCF grant has been placed in a segregated reserve fund 
established by bylaw and the Village will report annually on the grant received, the use of the grant 
and the unused year-end grant balance. 
 
    Total 
 
Balance December 31, 2023    $ 782,583 
 
Interest allocated in 2024      46,142 
 
Balance, December 31, 2024   $ 828,725 
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COUNCIL REPORT 

Date: June 23, 2025 

From: Amanda Seibert, Corporate Officer 

Subject: 2024 Annual Report 

Recommendation  
That the 2024 Annual Report be received as required by the Community Charter. 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to bring forward the Village of Belcarra 2024 Annual Report for 
consideration by Council, together with any submissions or questions from the public. For the 
purpose of the Community Charter, the June 23, 2025 Council meeting is deemed to be the 
annual meeting. 

Background 
The 2024 Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with Section 98 of the Community 
Charter. Municipalities are required to produce an annual report which states their goals and 
objectives for the coming year and demonstrates what progress has been made toward the 
preceding year's goals and objectives. The report must be presented at a public meeting before 
June 29 each year and made available for public inspection at least 14 days prior to that meeting. 

Discussion 
Major components of the annual report are the 2024 Audited Financial Statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2024 which were formally accepted through a resolution of Council at the 
April 24, 2025 Regular Council Meeting. 

The Village of Belcarra 2024 Annual Report was made available for public inspection at the front 
counter of the Village office and on the Village website on June 6, 2025. A Public Notice of Intention 
was posted digitally in the Tri-City News on June 10, 12, 16 and 19  and digital displays were on 
the Tri-City News website from June 9, 2025 onward as required by Section 94 of the Community 
Charter. The Public Notice of Intention was also posted on the Village’s website and distributed 
through the resident email system on June 6, 2025. 

10.2
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Members of the public may provide input for Council’s consideration by submitting their comments 
to the Village of Belcarra using email, fax, mail or hand delivery by noon on June 23, 2025. 
Members of the public may also attend the June 23, 2025 Regular Council meeting to provide 
comments during the Public Input Session. As per the notice of intention, all correspondence 
submitted will form part of the public record and will be provided to Council prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Prepared by:   Amanda Seibert 
 Corporate Officer 

 

 
 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Concurrence by:   Melony Burton 
  Chief Administrative Officer 
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We wish to acknowledge that we carry out our business on the unceded 
territory of the Coast Salish Peoples. Tum-Tumay-Whueton, or Belcarra, is 

home to an ancestral village of the Tsleil-Waututh Nation.  

We are thankful to conduct our work within their territory.  
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A MESSAGE FROM THE MAYOR  

On behalf of Council, I am pleased to present the 2024 Annual Report and 
the Audited Financial Statements of the Village of Belcarra.  

The Annual Report outlines the strategic priorities of Council, provides an 
update on goals and accomplishments, and highlights the many aspects of 
our Village that make it such a beautiful place to enjoy for families, friends 
and neighbours.  

In 2023, Council undertook an extensive and detailed strategic planning 
exercise to identify strategic priorities for the Village of Belcarra. Further 
work on the 2023-2026 Strategic Plan identified the objectives and actions 
needed to achieve those strategic priorities, with a focus on projects that 
manage and improve our assets and infrastructure. The Strategic Plan has 
been very effective in keeping Council and staff focused on meeting our 
strategic priorities. This focus has served as a solid foundation and will 
continue to be refined by Council as they endeavour to balance outcomes 
and support the Village in pressing ahead on important projects.  

It would be an understatement to say that times are changing as we see the significant transformation in 
leadership and governance orientation at the municipal, provincial, national level and globally.  During the 
last year, the work done by our Council embraced the change that was sweeping our Province in terms of 
new legislation.  The Official Community Plan is complete and will become the blueprint guiding Council 
in future years.  We continue to appreciate the efforts of committee and community members who 
participated in the OCP development process.   

Our Council is pragmatic and independent – yet always drawn to the work of making Belcarra better and 
bringing out the best in our Village. As we look back on 2024, and continued success in future years, I’d 
like to thank staff for their hard work in managing strategic plan initiatives on top of day-to-day operations.  
I’d also like to express my appreciation to Village of Belcarra Council, residents and all those who have 
contributed to our community's success. Your commitment and belief in Belcarra’s future is what makes 
this a truly special place.  

Sincerely, 

 
 
Mayor Jamie Ross 
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   MAYOR AND COUNCIL 
The Village of Belcarra is governed by an elected 
Council consisting of a Mayor and four 
Councillors. Council was elected on October 15, 
2022 by the community for the four-year term from 
2022-2026. Mayor Jamie Ross, Councillor 
Carolina Clark, Councillor Joe Elworthy, 
Councillor Janet Ruzycki and Councillor Liisa 
Wilder were elected in that process and were 
sworn in at the Inaugural Meeting held on 
November 7, 2022. 
As legislated by the Community Charter, Council 
is the governance body responsible for providing 
good government, services and laws which 
benefit the community, stewardship of public 
assets and in fostering the economic, social and 
environmental well-being of the community. 
 

Council reviews and establishes budget levels for 
civic operations and capital expenditures. The 
Mayor chairs meetings of Council, is an ex-officio 
member of all Council committees, and all bodies 
to which Council has the right to appoint 
members. 

Council meets regularly, on the first and third 
Monday of every month with some exceptions and 
facilitates public participation with public input  
and question period during the meeting.   

The Council meeting schedule, agendas and    
minutes are available on the municipal website at 
www.belcarra.ca and from the Municipal office.    

. 
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Mayor Jamie Ross 

Liisa Wilder 
Councillor 

Carolina Clark 
Councillor 

Janet Ruzycki 
Councillor 

Joe Elworthy 
Councillor 
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A MESSAGE FROM THE CAO  

The 2024 Official Community Plan was a significant achievement for the Village and will inform the 
strategic priorities of the next term. This marks a good time to reflect on our progress while planning to 
move forward at a pace that is sustainable and right sized for the community. This approach supports the 
delivery of committed items while providing the oversight required to meet Belcarra’s needs and get the 
most out of money spent. 

Among our best resources are the dedicated staff who wear multiple hats and juggle the delivery of 
strategic items on top of day-to-day operational responsibilities. The Village added a Corporate Officer, 
Bylaw Enforcement Officer/WARD Attendant and part-time Clerk in recent years. While we work to 
optimize resources, maximize value and find efficiencies, we also focus on supporting and developing 
staff to retain great talent and reduce dependencies on external support.  

On behalf of staff, I am pleased to present the 2024 Annual Report. I look forward to serving the residents, 
staff and Council of Belcarra in the years to come.  

In my short time with the Village of Belcarra, I have come to appreciate 
what a special place it is. Of course, the natural beauty and wildlife are 
amazing. But so are the long-time residents who are exceptionally 
knowledgeable, experienced, and involved in the community. Many have 
volunteered countless hours over the years and continue to make a 
positive impact with their efforts.   

The 2024 Annual Report demonstrates the excellent progress made in 
delivering Council’s 2023-2026 Strategic Priorities. Maintaining a laser   
like focus on strategic priorities is especially critical for small communities, 
as every other request pulls limited resources away from achieving them. 
Keeping things simple, practical and implementable is equally important 
for success.  
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ORGANIZATIONAL CHART 
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MISSION STATEMENT 

The Village of Belcarra’s mission 
is to enhance the quality of life for citizens, 

visitors and future generations in our municipality 
and the region. 

We strive to live in harmony with each other 
and our environment, while providing opportunities 

for the advancement of economic, physical 
and social well-being. 
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VISION STATEMENT 

Belcarra is a peaceful Village 
‘between forest and sea 

 
Belcarra is a beautiful, quiet sanctuary 
‘between forest and sea’.  We have a 

duty to remember and honour its history, 
to protect and conserve its natural 

beauty, retain a village community feel, 
and to care for and safeguard this 

special place for future generations. 
 
 
 

Belcarra is a model municipal entity 
that works effectively to engage and 
respect the diverse interests of its 

citizens. 
 

It offers simple and basic neighborhood 
opportunities to sustain and enrich our  

lives and reach our highest potential. Our 
municipality’s natural west coast beauty 
is valued and celebrated and is a source 

of pride worth protecting. Belcarra is 
actively involved in the social, 

environmental and political life of the 
region. 
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COMMUNITY PROFILE 

The Village of Belcarra (Belcarra) is located on 
the eastern shore of Indian Arm about 1.5 km 
north of Burrard Inlet within the traditional 
territory of the Tsleil-Waututh Nation. Belcarra 
is a unique community surrounded by nature, 
within Metro Vancouver that is a short 10-
minute drive from Port Moody and a 45-minute 
drive from downtown Vancouver. The Village 
has 700 residents and is surrounded by 
təmtəmíxʷtən/Belcarra Regional Park and Say 
Nuth Khaw Yum/Indian Arm Provincial Park.  
 
Belcarra is a jewel of Metro Vancouver offering 
a unique spectacular natural setting in a larger 
urban context. The Village is entirely residential 
with its municipal office, community hall and 
public works yard as the centre piece of 
municipal government and gathering place for 
Village residents.  
 
Belcarra shares municipal boundaries with the 
City of Port Moody and the Village of Anmore. 
These municipalities, along with the City of 
Coquitlam and the City of Port Coquitlam, are 
referred to as the Northeast sub-region by 
Metro Vancouver. Belcarra also shares a 
municipal boundary with the Metro Vancouver 
Regional District (MVRD) Electoral Area ‘A’ . 
 

The Village boundary also includes Hamber 
Island, Jug Island, Racoon Island, and Twin 
Islands. Jug Island is part of təmtəmíxʷtən/ 
Belcarra Regional Park while Racoon Island 
and Twin Islands are part of Say Nuth Khaw 
Yum/Indian Arm Provincial Park.  

Surrounding təmtəmíxʷtən/Belcarra Regional 
Park provides ready access to popular walking, 
hiking and biking trails, and water activities at 
both a salt water beach and a freshwater lake. 
Belcarra is a popular regional destination for 
hikers, scuba divers, water skiers, and those 
seeking a quiet respite from the city.  
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BREAKDOWN OF MUNICIPAL TAX 
FOR 2024 

A homeowner in Belcarra whose home had an average assessed value 
of $2,553,462 paid $3,314 in municipal property taxes in 2024. 
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BREAKDOWN OF OTHER TAXES 
FOR 2024 

The Village collects taxes on behalf of other levels of government. 
 
Only 39% of the amount on the annual tax notice goes to the Village, with the remaining 38% 
going to the School District, Metro Vancouver, TransLink, Police, BC Assessment and the 
Municipal Finance Authority.  
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CITIZEN  
INVOLVEMENT 

Volunteers — Visible, Vital and Valuable to Belcarra 
Volunteerism and community participation play an important part in building the spirit of our community. 

Beginning with the dedicated efforts of Belcarra’s 
two original ratepayer’s associations that were 
successful in the incorporation of the municipality 
in 1979, the Sasamat Volunteer Fire Department 
(SVFD), the Community and Recreation 
Association of Belcarra (CRAB), and Council 
citizen committees, Belcarra residents have a 
long history of volunteer activities. 

Belcarra is a strong community because of its 
many volunteers who support community projects 
and contribute to making our Village a strong, 
safe and healthy community. Belcarra volunteers 
give hope and friendship to those in need; help 
when asked and, more importantly, give help just 
because they can. 

You will find volunteers involved in the SVFD, 
Block Watch programs, CRAB, the Belcarra 
Barnacle, Council committees and the Board of 
Variance. The Municipal Garden volunteers take 
wonderful care of the planters at the Village Hall 
and at the Village entrance. The participation, 
commitment and contributions of Belcarra 
residents are essential to the quality of life in our 
community. 

 

As part of National Volunteer Week, the Village of 
Belcarra hosted a Volunteer Appreciation night   
on April 18, 2024 to acknowledge the work and 
dedication of  the residents who  choose to 
donate their time to volunteer for various events 
within the Village.  The event was well attended  
and provided the opportunity for Council and staff 
to show appreciation for volunteers’ contributions 
and to continue to build a sense of connection 
and collaboration. 
 
The Village of Belcarra is a better place to live 
thanks to the tireless efforts of volunteers working 
throughout the community. It is with sincere 
appreciation that we say “thank you” to our 
volunteers who generously give assistance to 
make the Village a beautiful place to live, grow 
and prosper 

 
 
  

 

 

Gardening courtesy of the Municipal Garden volunteers 
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CITIZEN  
INVOLVEMENT 

Committee members are important volunteers  

 Official Community Plan Review Committee 

In 2023, the Village of Belcarra undertook the 
process of developing new Official Community 
Plan. In November of 2023, the members of  
Official Community Plan Review Committee 
reviewed a draft of the new Official Community 
Plan and provided input to Council. 

As a result of hard work and dedication and 
fulsome knowledge of the community provided by 
members of the committee, the Official Community 
Plan was adopted on October 7, 2024. 

Committee Members: Larry Carlsen, Paul Degraaf, 
Ian Devlin, Jol Drake, Ralph Drew, Kevin Ferris, 
Tracey McRae, Mary-Ann Pope, Sandra Rietchel, 
Janet Ruzycki, Angela Yin 

Council Liaison: Councillor Carolina Clark  

 
 Board of Variance 
The Village of Belcarra’s Board of Variance is an 
independent appeal body consisting of three 
persons appointed by Council in accordance with 
the British Columbia Local Government Act (the 
"Act"). The Board hears and makes decisions on 
minor variances only regarding the siting, size and 
dimensions of buildings.  Although a Board of 
Variance is legislatively required, the Village of 
Belcarra acknowledges the members who bring 
their expertise to the hearings. 

Board of Variance members: Jim Hancock, John 
Stubbs, Paul Teichroeb 

Volunteers foster a sense of connection 

In this day and age of digital media, the Belcarra 
Barnacle has remained a staple in the community 
of Belcarra.  Through the hard work of volunteers, 
the Barnacle continues to be published and 
distributed, filled with local events, opinions, 
announcements, and stories residents choose to 
share.  Credit goes out to the local residents who 
volunteer their time and use their expertise to 
ensure that the Belcarra Barnacle carries on and  
provides information to the residents of Belcarra.   

Barnacle Volunteers:  Dayna Fitz, Deneige Davis,  
Sandra Rietchel, Clive Evans, Michele Babineau, 
C Baptist, Nora Boekhout, Bonni Marshall and 
Deborah Struk  
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CITIZEN INVOLVEMENT 
 BELCARRA DAY  

The annual Belcarra Day event 
was held on June 9, 2024 at 
təmtəmíxʷtən/Belcarra Regional 
Park. The event is an annual 
community get-together which this 
year included a barbeque hosted 
by the Sasamat Volunteer Fire 
Department (SVFD), a tent hosted 
by RCMP Community Policing, a 
live band, a train ride, a petting 
zoo, a reptile exhibition, face 
painting, a children’s craft table, a 
well-attended candy store and 
other activities, including a raffle of 
donated prizes. 

The event in 2024 was extremely 
well attended by many Belcarra 
residents, with all participants 
thoroughly enjoying the warm, 
sunny day and all it had to offer. 

Community Recreation Association 
Belcarra (CRAB) representatives 
organized most of the event and 
many residents pitched in as 
volunteers to ensure the success 
of the annual event. 

The Village of Belcarra is hugely 
appreciative of all the volunteers 
who give up their own time to 
create a special day for all and 
extra thanks goes out to 
businesses and residents who 
donated items to allow for a 
successful raffle, proceeds of 
which go to SVFD. 
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COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
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COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC PRIORITIES 
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STRATEGIC PLAN ACTIONS 
COMPLETED IN 2024 

ASSETS & INFRASTRUCTURE 
• Annual condition assessments of key infrastructure 

• Culvert scope purchase and culvert condition assessments 

• Long-term financial estimates and plan for infrastructure asset replacements 

• Land Disposition Policy for sale of road ends 

• Tatlow Reservoir inspections and deficiency report 

• Tatlow Reservoir chlorination system design 

• Water system capacity assessment 

• Marine Avenue paving 

• Bedwell Bay culvert repair 

• Bedwell Bay Road – road barriers and flashing beacons 

• Bedwell Bay Upgrade Project - concept design 
 
 
COMMUNITY & NATURAL ENVIRONMENT 

• Natural assets inventory and mapping 

• Official Community Plan consultation and adoption 

• Housing Needs Assessment Report 

• Active Transportation Network Plan - procurement and contract award 

• Active Transportation Network Plan – public survey 

• Tennis Court site options report 
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STRATEGIC PLAN ACTIONS 
COMPLETED IN 2024 

FISCAL SUSTAINABILITY THROUGH FISCAL MANAGEMENT 

 
EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT & PREPAREDNESS 

 
COMMUNICATION & COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT 

 
OPERATIONAL PRIORITES AND STRATEGIES 
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
The following table provides the status for strategic plan actions as at the 
publication date of this annual report 
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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2023-2026 STRATEGIC PLAN  
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KEY INFRASTRUCTURE PROJECTS 
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Marine Avenue Engineering and 
Paving 

Road Barriers 

Flashing Beacons Fencing around Tatlow Tank 
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SUMMARY OF MUNICIPAL  
SERVICES 

The Village of Belcarra is a picturesque rural 
community located on eastern shore of Indian 
Arm, a deep-water fjord of the Burrard Inlet.  It 
is surrounded by mountains and forests and is 
accessible by a single winding road or by water.   
The Village is one of the smallest of the 162 
municipalities in British Columbia yet its local 
government provides a host of services 
including: 

• Local Government Administration 
• Building Permits 
• Business Licensing 
• Bylaw Establishment and Enforcement 
• Emergency Preparedness 
• Filming Licensing 
• Financial Services 
• Geographic Information System 
• Land Use Planning 
• Storm Sewer Collection System 
• Transportation Network 
• Water Distribution System 
• Waste and Recycling Facility 
Contracted support services include:  
engineering, planning, finance, building and IT 
 

The Village of Belcarra issues property 
notices and the administrative office collects 
all property taxes.  The following levies are 
included on the property tax notices, 
however, the local Council does not control 
these taxes. 

• BC Assessment Authority 
• Metro Vancouver Regional District 
• Municipal Finance Authority 
• School Taxes on behalf of the BC 

Government 
• Sasamat Volunteer Fire Department for 

Metro Vancouver 
• TransLink 
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MUNICIPAL SERVICES at a glance 
The Village of Belcarra’s local government office is one of the smallest in BC, however, its staff fulfill 
various roles to ensure that long-term projects are administered in accordance with Council’s Strategic 
Plan and that the public is supported through the provision of services for day-to-day business matters . 
 
Office of the Chief Administrative Officer 
The Chief Administrative Officer (CAO) is the administrative head of the municipality and reports directly to 
Mayor and Council, serving as the primary point of contact between Council and residents and local 
government staff.  The CAO manages the day-to-day operation of the Village, provides guidance and 
direction to staff to ensure the directions of Council are implemented, provides advice to Council and 
keeps Council members up-to-date on Village matters. 

Administration 

The Administration Department provides support to the CAO, other departments, Council and the public.  
Along with the Chief Administrative Officer, two full time and one part time staff person work in the Village 
Hall and manage multiple roles throughout the day. 
The Corporate Officer provides legislative services some of which consist of the preparation of agendas for 
Council meetings, meeting management, recording of minutes of official meetings, development of bylaws 
and policies for Council approval as well as ensuring that the Village staff and Council adhere to provincial 
legislation, such as the Community Charter and Local Government Act.  The Records Management Program 
as well as Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Program fall under the umbrella of the 
Corporate Officer. 

The Accounting Clerk manages the fiscal needs of the Village and ensures interdepartmental and public 
support in terms of financial implications.  Banking, completion of the annual audit, processing of accounts 
payable and receivable, collection of taxes and utility fees and assistance with the completion of the year 
end are managed by the Accounting Clerk.  The position also provides the main support for the financial 
consultant. 

The Clerk works part time and takes on overflow work to assist other staff members.  The position provides 
customer service and reception at the Village Hall front desk and processes licences, permits, and bylaw 
violation tickets as well as providing scheduling support for Mayor and Council.  

All staff who work in the Village Hall respond to the needs of Council and Belcarra residents. Through    
cross-functional proficiency in multiple areas, they manage to run a very busy small office effectively and 
efficiently. 

Finance 
The Village of Belcarra contracts a financial consultant who supports the municipality by providing financial 
planning and financial accounting.  Reporting to the CAO, the consultant is responsible for the development 
of the Five-Year Financial Plan, preparation of interim and year end financial statements and the 
establishment of bylaws for the setting of property taxes and other revenues. 
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MUNICIPAL SERVICES at a glance 

Building  

The Village of Belcarra employs one staff member as the Building 
Official.  The staff person is responsible for Issuing building, plumbing 
and demolition permits and reviewing building plans to ensure 
compliance with the BC Building Code, and municipal bylaws, 
regulations and policies.  The Building Official performs site inspections 
to determine that conditions set out in a building permit have been 
satisfied and they are performed at various stages of construction.   

The Village’s Building Official works with Belcarra property owners and 
contractors to provide information and guidance and reviews preliminary building plans to determine 
compliance with regulations. Technical aspects of development applications are also reviewed by the 
Building Official, and support is provided for the Board of Variance and residents wishing to do renovations 
to an existing home. 

External support for plumbing and advanced building work is provided by a consultant. 

Engineering 

The Village of Belcarra contracts large projects requiring engineering expertise to consultants and work is 
carried out under the supervision of the Manager, Municipal Services.   

The  consultants contracted for the engineering aspect of municipal services provide guiding documents 
and advise on parameters required for design, repair and replacement of the Village’s capital and 
infrastructure projects as set out in Council’s Strategic Plan.  

Planning  
 
Under the direction of the CAO, a Planning Consultant provides general planning advice and support on 
policies and bylaws, legislation, development/building permits, legal reviews, building codes, technical 
standards and requirements.  
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Public Works 

The Public Works Department is responsible for ensuring that residents of the Village of Belcarra can rely on 
high quality services including a drinking water distribution system, rainwater collection and an efficient, well-
managed transportation network. 

The Village has four full-time employees in Public Works, who support the safe and efficient operation of the 
many operations that allow residents to go about their daily lives.  Public Works staff monitor and manage 
road maintenance, signage, safety and crosswalk lights, oversee stormwater and manage water distribution.   

Services also include hydrant maintenance and flushing, snow removal and ice control, roadside mowing, 
municipal building maintenance, tree removal and any other task which may be brought forward by Council 
or by residents who call in to the Village office to express a concern. 

Public Works staff, with expertise at the operation of various types of equipment, along with a hands-on and 
practical approach, are able to provide consistent, proactive service to the residents of Belcarra and ensure 
the continuous maintenance of the Village’s investment in infrastructure. 

 

MUNICIPAL SERVICES at a glance 
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Public Works - Bylaw Enforcement 

The WARD Attendant/Bylaw Enforcement Officer is responsible for the 
enforcement of bylaws, primarily parking regulations and enforcement 
as per Village of Belcarra Parking & Traffic Bylaw No. 518, 2018 and 
from time to time carries out enforcement with regard to zoning, noise, 
nuisance, unsightly and untidy premises as required. The position of 
Bylaw Enforcement Officer falls under the scope of Public Works and 
the supervision of the Manager, Municipal Services.   

MUNICIPAL SERVICES at a glance 

Public Works - WARD 

The Public Works Department manages the care and maintenance of the Waste and Recycle De-
pot (WARD) under the supervision of the Manager, Municipal Services.  The WARD Attendant/
Bylaw Officer provides assistance and information to facility users, monitors day to day activity for 
compliance with established procedures and policies and ensures order and cleanliness of the site. 
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RCMP YEAR IN REVIEW 
Village of  Belcarra 2024 

Police Service Levels 
Police calls for service in 2024, 
compared with the year 2023 were 
fairly the same as 80 calls were 
generated in 2024 compared to 74 
in 2023.  Property crime was up 
from 2023 as well as Persons 
offences.  

Of note, speeding complaints were 
and continue to be voiced in the 
community.   

Overall, Belcarra continues to be 
one of the safest communities in 
BC. 



 

Village of Belcarra—2024 Annual Report   43 



 

Village of Belcarra—2024 Annual Report   44 

SASAMAT VOLUNTEER 
FIRE DEPARTMENT (SVFD) 
2024 CALL-OUT STATISTICS 

2024 SASAMAT VOLUNTEER FIRE DEPARTMENT (SVFD) 
CALL-OUT STATISTICS 

\ 

Total Call-Outs 
128 call-outs during 2024 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

  92 (72%) 
   36 (38%) 

  

Fire Calls (FIRE) 
7 call-outs – 5% 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

 5 (35%) 
 2 (61%) 

  

Medical Emergencies (MESA) 
69 call-outs – 54% 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

 54 (84%) 
 15 (16%) 

  

Motor Vehicle Incidents (MVI) 
7 call-outs – 2% 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

 5 (71%) 
 2 (29%) 

  

Power Lines 
7 call-outs – 5% 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

 3 (43%) 
 4 (57%) 

  

Alarms 
34 call-outs – 27% 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

 21 (62%) 
 13 (38%) 

  

Burning Complaints 
2 call-outs – 4% 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

 2 (100%) 
 0     (0%) 

  

Gas Leaks 
1 call-outs – 1% 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

 1 (100%) 
 0     (0%) 

  

Other (Misc) 
1 call-outs – 2% 

Anmore Village 
Belcarra Village 

 1 (100%) 
 0     (0%) 
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SASAMAT VOLUNTEER 
FIRE DEPARTMENT (SVFD) 
2024 CALL-OUT STATISTICS 
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2024 AUDITED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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KPMG LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership and member firm of the KPMG global organization of independent member firms affiliated with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited 
by guarantee. KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.  
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COUNCIL REPORT 

Date: June 23, 2025 

From: Stewart Novak, Manager, Municipal Services 

Subject: ISL Engineering Contract Renewal 

Recommendation 
That the Village of Belcarra retains ISL Engineering and Land Services Ltd. (ISL) for a second 
five-year term of a Master Standing Offer Agreement for consulting engineering services. 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to provide information regarding the extension of ISL’s Master 
Service Agreement for consulting and engineering services. 

Background 
In June of 2019 the Village of Belcarra (Belcarra) issued a Request-For-Proposals (RFP) for 
consulting engineering services titled “Belcarra Consulting Engineering Services – Five Year 
Master Standing Offer”.  

The objective was to enter into a five-year Master Standing Offer Agreement with a consulting 
engineering firm to provide a full range of consulting engineering services to the Village of Belcarra 
on a wide variety of projects. This type of agreement allows staff to work directly with one firm 
without the need to prepare separate requests for proposals for each project over the term of the 
contract agreement. However, the agreement is not exclusive and does not prohibit Belcarra from 
hiring other consulting and engineering firms as required.  

Under the terms of the agreement, the engineering firm is to be familiar with the Village of 
Belcarra’s infrastructure, master plans and strategies. The firm must also be available on an on-
call basis to address any engineering consulting requirements throughout the term, responding 
to work assignments within two business days and commencing assignments within five business 
days or within an agreed time. Basic services are set at an hourly charge out rate as determined 
in a fee schedule by the consultant’s role and discipline, and the yearly increase in overall average 
rates may never exceed 3%. 

Discussion 

Following the RFP submission close and review of applicant proposals, Belcarra entered into a 
consulting services agreement with ISL on January 27, 2020 for a term of five years. The terms 
state that “at the end of the first and any additional five-year term, the Village reserves the right 
to extend the first and any additional terms by up to an additional five-year term”.  

Staff have primarily used ISL for civil engineering projects over the past five years. However, other 
consulting and engineering firms have been retained as required, such as WSP Canada LTD for 
the water distribution system.  
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ISL has provided guidance and support on many projects including the recently completed Marine 
Avenue Road repair. Staff are pleased with their prompt response times and knowledge of 
Belcarra’s bylaws and infrastructure. Retaining ISL for an additional five-year term will support the 
delivery of ongoing and time sensitive projects while avoiding the delay of familiarizing a new 
engineering firm with Belcarra’s projects and infrastructure. Furthermore, it will save Belcarra the 
time and expense of going through another RFP process.   
 

 
________________________________________ 
Prepared by:  Stewart Novak 
 Manager, Municipal Services 
 

 
________________________________________ 
Concurrence: Melony Burton 
 Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 



COUNCIL REPORT 

Date: June 23, 2025 

From: Stewart Novak, Manager, Municipal Services 

Subject: Marine Pipeline Inspection and Recommendations 

Recommendation 
That Fraser Burrard Diving Ltd be retained to conduct an underwater marine pipeline inspection 
at the cost of $25,295 and, 
That WSP Canada Ltd. be retained to make recommendations based on the inspection results at 
the cost of $4,000, and  
That the Village of Belcarra 2025 to 2029 capital financial plan be amended by transferring the 
$75,000 Municipal Hall septic field replacement budget from 2025 to 2026 and transferring the 
$30,000 marine pipeline inspection budget from 2026 to 2025. 

Purpose 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with recommendations regarding Belcarra’s 
scheduled marine pipeline inspection.  

Background 
In 2012 the Village of Belcarra (Belcarra) constructed a potable water service pipeline that 
connects to the District of North Vancouver (DNV) water distribution system and travels 
submerged under the Indian Arm for 1.4 kilometers before surfacing at Midden Station. From the 
station, water is transported to the Tatlow Reservoir through a 200mm D/I pipeline and then 
dispersed throughout the Village for domestic consumption. 
The marine pipeline is constructed of two 200mm HDPE (high density polyethylene) pipes with 
an air release chamber approximately 900 meters from the DNV shoreline. The pipeline was last 
inspected in 2017 and found to be in good condition, although the diving crew were unable to 
access the air valve chamber due to growth and corrosion around the hatch. 
Discussion 
The marine pipeline is due for inspection as per operational guidelines. Funding to conduct the 
inspection is currently scheduled for 2026 in Belcarra’s 2025 to 2029 capital financial plan, while 
$75,000 is budgeted in 2025 to replace the municipal septic field. 

The municipal septic field is still functioning as it should. The municipal hall was officially opened 
in 1985, and a replacement date was scheduled for the septic field at a typical service life of 40 
years. A septic field replacement should be considered in the near future as there are no as-built 
drawings available indicating the type of septic field installed, or its exact location. In addition, 
several large trees have grown over the area. 

Due to the time needed for procurement and planning, staff recommend deferring the septic field 
replacement to 2026 and conducting the marine pipeline inspection in 2025 instead.  
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Marine Pipeline Inspection Proposals 
 
Staff have received and evaluated three fee proposals for inspection services of the Belcarra 
marine pipeline. Proponents were asked to provide a fee proposal for a diving inspection that 
assesses:  
 

• foreign damage; anchors & trawl gear, debris/settlement/rocks, excessive biological 
growth. 

• movement; buckling, instability, pipe floating or sinking 
• age related damage; corrosion, indication of leaks 
• condition of the open-air release valve and vault access lid 

 
Staff recommend retaining Fraser Burrard Diving Ltd. who submitted a quote for $25,296. 
Although it was not the lowest quote, they will only charge for time committed if the project takes 
less than the 4-day shifts factored in the quote.  
 
Fraser Burrard was previously retained by Belcarra to complete the water pipeline inspection in 
2017. They have existing knowledge of the pipeline, and a better understanding of the work 
needed to open the vault lids. 
 
Recommendations Report 
 
Staff requested a quote from WSP Canada Ltd.to:  

• review the diving inspection report and media files  
• prepare a recommendation letter with potential future works that includes  

one recommendation for each defect and a schedule to indicate the urgency of works 
• meet to discuss potential next steps 

 
WSP estimates the maximum cost of this work to be $4000 and will only charge for the hours of 
work conducted. 
 
Staff recommend proceeding with the marine pipeline inspection and recommendations report 
that can be completed for a total of $29,295 which is less than the budgeted amount of $30,000.  
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Prepared by:  Stewart Novak 
 Manager, Municipal Services 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Concurrence: Melony Burton 
 Chief Administrative Officer 
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